IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JAYLIN JEROME IRISH,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jaylin Irish pled guilty to first degree assault and first degree rendering criminal assistance. Shortly after entering the plea, he notified his attorney that he wanted to withdraw it because counsel had pressured him into making the plea. At that point, a conflict of interest arose between Mr. Irish and his attorney because counsel would likely be a witness against Mr. Irish. Counsel had an obligation to notify the court in a timely manner and withdraw as counsel but did not do so until sentencing, at which point the court denied the motion. Once Mr. Irish was sentenced, he lost his right to the assistance of appointed counsel to help him file a motion to withdraw the guilty plea.

The conflict of interest between Mr. Irish and his attorney caused a lapse in representation that resulted in a denial of Mr. Irish's Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel. His case must be remanded to the trial court and he must be allowed to move to withdraw his guilty plea with the assistance of appointed counsel.

Also, the information did not contain all the essential elements of rendering criminal assistance and the plea was involuntary because it was based on a misunderstanding of those elements. For these additional reasons, Mr. Irish must be allowed to withdraw his plea.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Jaylin Irish was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel because his attorney had a conflict of interest.
- 2. Mr. Irish's constitutional right to notice was violated because the information omitted an essential element of the crime of rendering criminal assistance.
- 3. The court's finding that Mr. Irish understood the nature of the charges is not supported by the evidence.
- 4. Mr. Irish's guilty plea was involuntary in violation of constitutional due process because it was based on a misunderstanding of the elements of the crime of rendering criminal assistance.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. The Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel encompasses the right to representation free from conflicts of interest. A conflict of interest arises when a defendant moves to withdraw his guilty plea based on his attorney's actions because the attorney is likely to become a witness against the defendant. The attorney must withdraw in a timely manner so that substitute counsel can pursue a motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Here, Mr. Irish asserted that he wished to withdraw his guilty plea based on his

attorney's actions but his attorney did not move to withdraw until sentencing, at which point the court denied the motion. Was Mr. Irish denied his constitutional right to conflict-free counsel?

- 2. A charging document is constitutionally deficient if it does not contain all essential elements of the crime. An essential element of the crime of rendering criminal assistance is that the accused acted with knowledge of the crime committed by the person he assisted. Is the information constitutionally deficient where it omitted this essential element?
- 3. A guilty plea is involuntary in violation of constitutional due process if the defendant is not apprised of the elements of the crime the State would have to prove if the case went to trial. Here, Mr. Irish pled guilty to rendering criminal assistance but was never informed that in order to prove the charge, the State would have to prove he acted with knowledge of the crime committed by the person he allegedly assisted. Is his guilty plea involuntary in violation of due process?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Irish was charged with one count of first degree assault, RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a), and one count of first degree rendering criminal assistance, RCW 9A.76.050(3) and 9A.76.070(2)(a). CP 12-13. The

charges arose out of an altercation that occurred in Tacoma involving several young men. CP 4. The State alleged that a man named Demarcus Pate attempted to punch two men and then fired a handgun at them as he chased them through an alley. CP 4. The State alleged that Mr. Pate then jumped into a car driven by Mr. Irish. CP 4. A witness reported hearing two additional gunshots as the car drove away from the scene. CP 4.

After extended negotiations, Mr. Irish pled guilty to the charges pursuant to a plea agreement with the State. CP 14-23; RP 70-75, 84.

About one month later, the court and the parties convened for sentencing. At the outset of the hearing, defense counsel asserted that shortly after Mr. Irish pled guilty, he had contacted counsel and stated that he wanted to withdraw his plea because "he had been pressured into entering the plea." RP 84. Counsel told the court that if Mr. Irish moved to withdraw the plea, counsel would become a witness based on Mr. Irish's allegations that counsel had pressured him into pleading guilty. RP 84. Counsel had contacted the Department of Assigned Counsel in an attempt to have another attorney appointed to represent Mr. Irish. RP 84. He thought another attorney had substituted but apparently that did not happen. RP 84. Counsel stated the court should

appoint new counsel "because I think I have a conflict because I'm a witness one way or the other in this case if, indeed, it comes to a hearing or if any other information about the proceedings leading up to the plea is at issue." RP 85. Counsel further asserted, "whether the conflict exists is really the issue, and if it does, then I don't believe that I can represent him further." RP 85.

The court stated it could not continue sentencing because no motion to continue had been filed. RP 85. The court denied counsel's motion to withdraw, stating, "at this point, the Court does not have anything firm that causes the Court to understand that there is a conflict that would prevent us from going ahead with sentencing today." RP 85-86. The court immediately proceeded to sentencing. CP 26-37.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Irish was denied his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel when the trial court denied his attorney's motion to withdraw after counsel alerted the court that Mr. Irish wished to withdraw his guilty plea based on counsel's actions
 - a. A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to representation free from conflicts of interest

The constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel applies at all "critical stages" of a criminal proceeding. Missouri v.

Frye, __ U.S. __, 132 S. Ct. 1399, 1405, 182 L. Ed. 2d 379 (2012); State v. Nguyen, 178 Wn. App. 1027, 319 P.3d 53, 58 (2013); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. It is well settled that a presentence motion to withdraw a guilty plea is a "critical stage" for purposes of the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Nguyen, 319 P.3d at 58.

The constitutional right to counsel encompasses the right to the assistance of an attorney who is free from any conflict of interest. State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 566, 70 P.3d 432 (2003); Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 271, 101 S. Ct. 1097, 67 L. Ed. 2d 220 (1981).

An attorney has an obligation to avoid conflicts of interest and to advise the court promptly when a conflict of interest arises. <u>Cuyler v. Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. 335, 346, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980). The trial court, in turn, has a duty to investigate potential attorney-client conflicts of interest if it knows or reasonably should know that a potential conflict exists. <u>Mickens v. Taylor</u>, 535 U.S. 162, 167-72, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 152 L. Ed. 2d 291 (2002) (citing <u>Holloway v. Arkansas</u>, 435 U.S. 475, 98 S. Ct. 1173, 55 L. Ed. 2d 426 (1978)). "The trial court should protect the right of an accused to have the assistance of counsel." <u>Holloway</u>, 435 U.S. at 484. Thus, "an

attorney's request for the appointment of separate counsel, based on his representations as an officer of the court regarding a conflict of interests, should be granted." <u>Id</u>. at 485.

A conviction must be reversed due to a violation of the constitutional right to counsel if the defendant can show that his attorney had an "actual conflict of interest." Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d at 571; Mickens, 535 U.S. at 171-72; Sullivan, 446 U.S. at 349-50. An "actual conflict" is "a conflict that affected counsel's performance—as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties." Mickens, 535 U.S. at 171. Thus, "a defendant asserting a conflict of interest on the part of his or her counsel need only show that a conflict adversely affected the attorney's performance to show a violation of his or her Sixth Amendment right." Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d at 571.

A conflict adversely affected an attorney's performance if,

"during the course of the representation, the attorney's and the

defendant's interests diverge[d] with respect to a material factual or

legal issue or to a course of action." State v. Regan, 143 Wn. App. 419,

428, 177 P.3d 783 (2008) (internal quotation marks and citation

omitted). Reversal is required if the defendant shows the conflict (1)

"cause[d] some lapse in representation contrary to the defendant's

interests" or (2) "likely affected particular aspects of counsel's advocacy on behalf of the defendant." <u>Id</u>. (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

Once a defendant demonstrates an "actual conflict of interest," he need not show prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. <u>Id</u>. In other words, he need not show the outcome of the trial would have been different but for the conflict. <u>Mickens</u>, 535 U.S. at 173-75.

These conflict of interest rules apply in *any* situation where defense counsel represents conflicting interests. State v. McDonald, 143 Wn.2d 506, 513, 22 P.3d 791 (2001); Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 426-27. Thus, they apply in cases where counsel is to be called as a witness against the defendant. Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 427.

Whether the circumstances demonstrate an actual conflict of interest is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. <u>Id</u>. at 428.

b. In order to avoid a conflict of interest, an attorney has an obligation to advise the court promptly and move to withdraw as counsel when his client asserts he wishes to withdraw his guilty plea based on counsel's actions

A conflict of interest may arise between a defendant and his attorney in any case where the attorney is a witness. <u>Regan</u>, 143 Wn. App. at 430-31. An attorney must promptly withdraw when it is likely

he or she will present testimony related to substantive contested matters. State v. Nation, 110 Wn. App. 651, 659, 41 P.3d 1204 (2002). The Rules of Professional Conduct provide that an attorney may not ethically act as an advocate at a trial in which the attorney is likely to be a witness on substantive, contested matters, unless certain narrow exceptions apply. See RPC 3.7(a).¹

A trial court should grant a motion to withdraw when alerted to the likelihood that the attorney will present such testimony. "A superior court has the authority and duty to see to the ethical conduct of lawyers in proceedings before it and, upon proper grounds, can disqualify an attorney." State v. Sanchez, 171 Wn. App. 518, 546, 288 P.3d 351 (2012). A court should grant a motion to withdraw pursuant to RPC 3.7(a) if the attorney shows (1) he or she will give evidence material to the determination of the issues being litigated, (2) the

¹ RPC 3.7(a) provides:

A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness unless:

⁽¹⁾ the testimony relates to an uncontested issue;

⁽²⁾ the testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case;

⁽³⁾ disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client; or

⁽⁴⁾ the lawyer has been called by the opposing party and the court rules that the lawyer may continue to act as an advocate.

evidence is unobtainable elsewhere, and (3) the testimony is or may be prejudicial to the testifying attorney's client. <u>Id</u>. at 545.

Courts recognize that an attorney must be permitted to withdraw in order to avoid having to testify against his client when the defendant seeks to withdraw his guilty plea based on allegations that counsel coerced him into entering the plea or was otherwise ineffective.² In such cases, counsel is placed in the untenable position of defending his own conduct while at the same time trying to represent his client's interests. "Although an attorney should not argue his own inadequacy or that of his office, he is under a duty to withdraw as counsel when the issue arises." People v. Norris, 46 Ill. App. 3d 536, 541, 361 N.Ed.2d 105 (1977). "It is obvious that a lawyer cannot act as an advocate on behalf of his client, and yet give testimony adverse to the interests of that client in the same proceeding." Riley v. District Court In & For Second Judicial Dist., 181 Colo. 90, 95, 507 P.2d 464 (1973).

Thus, courts hold that in order to avoid a conflict of interest that violates the constitutional right to counsel, when a defendant seeks to

² A defendant may withdraw a guilty plea whenever necessary to correct a manifest injustice. CrR 4.2(f); Nguyen, 319 P.3d at 58. Withdrawal may be necessary to correct a manifest injustice if the defendant establishes he received ineffective assistance of counsel or the plea was involuntary. CrR 4.2(f); Nguyen, 319 P.3d at 58.

withdraw his guilty plea based on counsel's conduct, the attorney must be permitted to withdraw and a new attorney appointed. See People v. Freeman, 55 Ill. App. 3d 1000, 1006, 371 N.Ed.2d 863 (1977) (right to counsel violated where defendant moved to withdraw guilty plea based on allegation that his attorney coerced him into pleading guilty, and he was represented on the motion by a public defender from the same office); Norris, 46 III. App. 3d at 541-42 (error to deny motion to withdraw guilty plea based on allegation that attorney coerced defendant into entering guilty plea where defendant was represented at hearing by attorney who represented him at time of plea); People v. <u>Cruz</u>, 244 A.D.2d 564, 565, 664 N.Y.S.2d 360 (N.Y. App. Div. 1997) (trial court should have assigned new counsel before deciding defendant's motion to withdraw guilty plea on ground that counsel coerced him into entering plea); People v. Rodas, 238 A.D.2d 358, 359, 656 N.Y.S.2d 54 (N.Y. App. Div. 1997) (right to counsel violated where counsel continued to represent defendant who moved to vacate guilty plea on basis that counsel coerced him into entering plea); Riley, - 181 Colo. at 95 (defense counsel must be permitted to withdraw and new attorney appointed where defendant sought to withdraw guilty plea based on allegation that plea was induced by inadequate representation).

c. An "actual conflict of interest" occurred in this case because the likelihood that counsel would be called as a witness caused a lapse in counsel's representation that was contrary to Mr. Irish's interests

Reversal is required when a defendant can show a conflict of interest (1) "cause[d] some lapse in representation contrary to the defendant's interests" or (2) "likely affected particular aspects of counsel's advocacy on behalf of the defendant." Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 428 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

In <u>Regan</u>, the trial court ruled that the State could call one of the two defense attorneys as a witness on a bail jumping charge, in order to show that counsel told Mr. Regan to arrive early for court on the day in question. <u>Id</u>. at 424. At a pretrial hearing, the attorney's co-counsel agreed to a continuance, against her client's wishes, so that her co-counsel would not be subject to a material witness warrant while on his vacation. <u>Id</u>. at 430. The Court of Appeals held counsel's conduct was "a classic example of a choice between alternative courses of action that was helpful to defense counsel's own interests and harmful to Mr. Regan." <u>Id</u>. Thus, the trial court's decision to compel counsel's

testimony led to an "actual conflict of interest" that adversely affected Mr. Regan's representation. <u>Id</u>. Reversal was required without a showing of prejudice. <u>Id</u>.

Similarly, here, the conflict that arose when Mr. Irish asserted his desire to withdraw his guilty plea based on counsel's conduct caused a lapse in representation that was contrary to Mr. Irish's interests. Soon after pleading guilty, Mr. Irish told his attorney that he wanted to withdraw the plea because counsel had "pressured" him into it. RP 84. At that point, counsel had an obligation to alert the court and file a timely motion to withdraw so that he could avoid having to testify against Mr. Irish while also representing him. Sullivan, 446 U.S. at 346. But counsel delayed. Counsel did not move to withdraw until the sentencing hearing more than one month later. RP 84-85. By then it was too late. The court would not continue the sentencing hearing because no motion to continue had been filed. RP 85.

The conflict of interest caused a lapse in representation contrary to Mr. Irish's interests in another way as well. Because of the conflict of interest, counsel apparently concluded he could not file a motion to withdraw the guilty plea on Mr. Irish's behalf. Instead, he attempted to

obtain substitute counsel but was unsuccessful in doing so. RP 84. Thus, no motion to withdraw the guilty plea was ever filed.

Counsel's lapses in not filing a timely motion to withdraw as counsel or to withdraw the guilty plea on Mr. Irish's behalf were harmful to Mr. Irish and contrary to his interests. Once Mr. Irish was sentenced, he lost his right to have an attorney appointed to help him file a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. See Nguyen, 319 P.3d at 58.

In these ways, the conflict of interest that arose between Mr. Irish and his attorney when Mr. Irish asserted his desire to withdraw his guilty plea based on counsel's actions led counsel to make choices between alternative courses of action that were helpful to counsel's own interests but harmful to Mr. Irish's. Thus, an "actual conflict of interest" occurred, requiring reversal of the conviction. See Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 428.

Finally, reversal is also warranted because the trial court did not fulfill its duty to ensure that Mr. Irish's constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel was protected. A trial court has a duty to investigate potential attorney-client conflicts of interest if it knows or reasonably should know that a potential conflict exists. Mickens, 535 U.S. at 167-72. This duty stems from the court's general

obligation to protect the right of an accused to have the assistance of counsel. Holloway, 435 U.S. at 484. "[A]n attorney's request for the appointment of separate counsel, based on his representations as an officer of the court regarding a conflict of interests, should be granted." Id. at 485.

Counsel told the court that he had a conflict of interest and asked to withdraw because Mr. Irish said he had been pressured into pleading guilty. RP 85. But despite counsel's representations, the court stated it "d[id] not have anything firm that causes the Court to understand that there is a conflict that would prevent us from going ahead with sentencing today." RP 85-86. The reason the court did not have this information was because the attorney's conflict prevented him from giving the court the information it needed. Instead of inquiring into the conflict and determining how best to protect Mr. Irish's right to counsel, the court immediately proceeded with sentencing. Once he was sentenced, Mr. Irish lost his right to have an attorney appointed to help him file a motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Thus, the court did not adequately protect Mr. Irish's constitutional right to counsel, which warrants reversal of the conviction so that Mr. Irish may move to withdraw his guilty plea with the assistance of counsel.

- 2. Mr. Irish's constitutional right to notice was violated because the information omitted an essential element of the crime of rendering criminal assistance
 - a. Mr. Irish may challenge the constitutional sufficiency of the information even though he pled guilty to the crime

Ordinarily, a plea of guilty constitutes a waiver by the defendant of his right to appeal. State v. Majors, 94 Wn.2d 354, 356, 616 P.2d 1237 (1980). But a guilty plea does not preclude a defendant from raising collateral questions such as the validity of the statute, sufficiency of the information, jurisdiction of the court, or the circumstances in which the plea was made. Id. In Auburn v. Brooke, 119 Wn.2d 623, 625, 635-36, 836 P.2d 212 (1992), for example, the Washington Supreme Court addressed the constitutional sufficiency of a charging document in a case where the defendant pled guilty to the charge.

Thus, as in <u>Brooke</u>, Mr. Irish may challenge the sufficiency of the charging document even though he pled guilty to the charge.

b. The constitutional right to notice requires that all essential elements of the crime be included in the charging document

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