NO. 45509-9-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JAYLIN JEROME IRISH, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn Nelson

No. 12-1-02894-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
CHELSEY MILLER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Relevant Facts and Procedure

On August 1, 2012, the Pierce County Prosecutor's Office charged JAYLIN JEROME IRISH, hereinafter "defendant," with three counts of assault in the first degree with deadly weapon enhancements and one count of drive-by shooting. CP 1-3. On September 10, 2013, the State filed a second amended information charging defendant with one count of assault in the first degree with a deadly weapon enhancement and one

count of rendering criminal assistance in the first degree to which defendant pleaded guilty on the same day. CP 12-13, 14-23; RP 69-75.

On October 18, 2013, during the scheduled sentencing hearing, defendant's attorney asked to be allowed to withdraw from defendant's case because defendant had expressed a desire to withdraw his guilty plea and the attorney felt there was now a conflict of interest as he was a potential witness if such a motion were ever filed. RP 84-86. The court denied the motion and defendant was sentenced to 120 months on the assault conviction and 15 months on the rendering criminal assistance conviction, to be served concurrently. CP 24-37; RP 85-86, 92-93.

Defendant filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 40-56.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW WHEN THERE WAS NOTHING TO SUGGEST AN ACTUAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST EXISTED.

CrR 3.1(e) holds that "[w]hen a criminal cause has been set for trial, no lawyer shall be allowed to withdraw from said cause, except upon written consent of the court, for good and sufficient reason shown." Such a decision about whether to allow counsel to withdraw rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. *State v. Lytle*, 71 Wn.2d 83, 84, 426 P.2d 502 (1967); *State v. Shelton*, 71 Wn.2d 838, 840, 431 P.2d 201

(1967); *State v. Sinclair*, 46 Wn. App. 433, 436, 730 P.2d 742 (1986).

Good cause to warrant substitution of counsel includes situations involving a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication. *In re Personal Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 723, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). The factors for a court to consider in deciding whether to grant a motion to substitute counsel are (1) the reasons given for the dissatisfaction, (2) the court's own evaluation of counsel, and (3) the effect of any substitution upon the scheduled proceedings. *Id.* (citing *State v. Stark*, 48 Wn. App. 245, 253, 738 P.2d 684 (1987)).

In the present case, defendant argues the trial court abused its discretion in denying defense counsel's motion to withdraw at the sentencing hearing because "an actual conflict of interest occurred in this case." Appellant's Opening Brief, at 12. Defendant's argument rests on the premise that a conflict of interest had arisen wherein defense counsel had become a witness to defendant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. There are two errors in this argument. First, no motion to withdraw defendant's guilty plea was ever filed and second, the conflict was merely a potential future conflict at that point.

Rather, what occurred during the sentencing hearing a little over a month after defendant pleaded guilty was that defense counsel told the

court that shortly after pleading guilty defendant had expressed to him a desire to withdraw his plea. But, during the sentencing hearing, defense counsel never made a formal motion on behalf of defendant to withdraw his plea. RP 84-93. Defendant himself was present and actually spoke later in the hearing, but also never mentioned wishing to withdraw his plea at any point or feeling that a conflict existed with his attorney. RP 84-93. Instead, during the hearing, defense counsel explained to the court that he was concerned that there could be a *potential* conflict if such a motion was ever filed. But at the time, no motion to withdraw the guilty plea was ever made by defense counsel or defendant himself.

As a result, because there was no motion to withdraw ever filed, there was no actual conflict that existed at the time. Again, defense counsel was merely informing the court of his concern about representing defendant during the sentencing hearing if in the future such a conflict were to arise. Defense counsel stated:

based on Mr. Irish's allegations, that I -- that I think he should be appointed new counsel because I think I have another conflict because I'm a witness one way or the other in this case *if, indeed, it comes to a hearing* or if any other information about the proceedings leading up to the plea is at issue.

...
my feeling is that, if I have a conflict or if the Court determines I have a conflict, I can't represent him for any purpose. I mean, he -- *whether the conflict exists is really the issue*, and if it does, then I don't believe that I can

represent him further, and I think that could create issues down the road.

RP 85 (emphasis added). In response, the court stated:

Well, at this point, the Court does not have anything firm that causes the Court to understand that there is a conflict that would prevent us from going ahead with sentencing today. So that is the Court's intention, and with respect to that, I'd hear from the State first.

RP 85-86. Given that there was no actual conflict of interest that existed at that point, the trial court properly denied the motion to withdraw.

Looking to those factors the court is to consider in evaluating a motion to withdraw as cited in *State v. Stark, supra*, it is apparent in this case that the trial court properly exercised its discretion. First, the reason for the motion to withdraw was brought by defense counsel out of concern for the potential of a future conflict. Defendant himself never expresses any form of dissatisfaction with counsel or his representation. Second, there was nothing indicated in the record that would should have caused the court to be concerned about defense counsel's ability to represent defendant at that time. Defendant never made any motion or requested new counsel at any point during the hearing and even when he was later given the opportunity to speak, he never mentioned anything about wanting new counsel or feeling like he was pressured into his plea. Finally, the case was scheduled for sentencing and had been scheduled for

sentencing for a little over a month. Defense counsel indicated defendant had expressed reservations about feeling pressured into pleading guilty shortly after the plea, but during the month pending the hearing and even during the hearing itself no motion to withdraw the plea was ever filed. From the court's perspective, there was no reason to delay the proceedings for the substitution of counsel when no legitimate reason for such a substitution existed. It would be unproductive to allow counsel to withdraw every time the potential for a future conflict arose, hence why an evaluation by the court under CrR 3.1(e) is required prior to any action on these issues. Given the record before the court and considering the factors as outlined above, it is apparent the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defense counsel's motion to withdraw.

Defendant's reliance upon *State v. Regan*, 143 Wn. App. 419, 177 P.3d 783 (2008), is misplaced. In *Regan*, the defendant arrived late to trial and his original charge was amended to include bail jumping. *Regan*, 143 Wn. App. at 428. There were two defense attorneys assigned to the case and the State wanted to call one of them in its case in chief as a witness to the bail jumping charge. *Id.* The defendant was detained pending trial and on the day of trial, the defense attorney who was to be a witness for the State was on vacation. *Id.* Defendant's other counsel explained to the court her dilemma wherein she wanted to agree to the

continuance so as not to subject her co-counsel to a material witness warrant while on vacation, but that doing so would conflict with her client's right to go to trial which he was requesting. *Id.* at 428-429. She ultimately agreed to the continuance to the detriment of her client. *Id.* The court described how "[T]his is a classic example of a choice between alternative courses of action that was helpful to defense counsel's own interests and harmful to Mr. Regan. And it shows an actual conflict of interest." *Id.*

In evaluating this issue, the *Regan* court explained that "[A]n 'actual conflict' is a 'conflict that affected counsel's performance -- as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties." *Regan*, 143 Wn. App. at 427-428 (*quoting Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 171, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 152 L. Ed. 2d 291 (2002)). The court also referenced that "an attorney has an actual, as opposed to a potential conflict of interest when, during the course of the representation, the attorney's and the defendant's interests diverge with respect to a material factual or legal issue or to a course of action." *Regan*, 143 Wn. App. at 428 (*United States v. Baker*, 256 F.3d 855, 860 (9th Cir. 2001), *quoting United States v. Levy*, 25 F.3d 146, 155 (2d Cir. 1994)). It elaborated further, "'We will not find an actual conflict unless appellants can point to 'specific instances in the record to suggest an actual conflict or impairment of their interests.'"

Regan, 143 Wn. App. at 428 (*United States v. Mers*, 701 F.2d 1321, 1328 (11th Cir.1983), quoting *United States v. Fox*, 613 F.2d 99, 102 (5th Cir.1980)) (see also *State v. James*, 48 Wn. App. 353, 366, 739 P.2d 1161 (1987), quoting same).

In the present case, there is nothing specific in the record to suggest that defense counsel's situation evolved into a situation where the client's interests were pitted against his own. There was no explicit dilemma or conflict of interest as there was in *Regan*. Rather, defense counsel merely said that if at some point defendant filed a motion to withdraw his plea and if based on that motion defense counsel were to become a potential witness, that might create a conflict and wanted the court to be aware. However, the potential for a conflict is not the same as an actual conflict requiring a substitution of counsel. A defendant expressing some regret to his attorney after pleading guilty does not create a conflict of interest that affects a defense counsel's performance from that point forward, especially when no motion to withdraw the plea is ever even filed.

Defendant also argues that the supposed conflict of interest caused a lapse in representation because as a result of the conflict "counsel apparently concluded he could not file a motion to withdraw the guilty plea on Mr. Irish's behalf." Appellant's Opening Brief, at 13. There is

nothing in the record to support this assertion. Defense counsel never says he could not file such a motion or that he did not file such a motion because of such a belief. Defense attorneys routinely file similar motions on behalf of their clients all the time. If defendant had wanted a motion to withdraw his plea filed, not only could he have filed one himself, he could have told the court that at the hearing. The fact that there is no record of any of that occurring tends to suggest that defendant changed his mind and did not want to follow through with the motion to withdraw his plea. There is nothing in the record to support the claim that a conflict of interest existed, let alone that such a conflict caused a lapse in representation by defense counsel.

Defendant's claim that the trial court failed to investigate a potential attorney-client conflict of interest in this case is simply incorrect. The trial court listened to defense counsel's concerns, evaluated them, and did not see a conflict at that point that would necessitate defense counsel's withdrawal. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it properly denied defense counsel's motion to withdraw.

2. THE CHARGING DOCUMENT CONTAINED ALL THE NECESSARY ELEMENTS OF RENDERING CRIMINAL ASSISTANCE IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

All essential elements of a crime, statutory or otherwise, must be included in the charging document for the information to be considered constitutionally adequate. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101-02, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). The charging document must also allege facts supporting every element of the offense. *State v. Nonog*, 145 Wn. App. 802, 806, 187 P.3d 335 (2008). The purpose is to notify the accused of the nature of the allegations against them so they may properly prepare a defense. *Id.* (citing *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn.2d 679, 688, 782 P.2d 552 (1989)).

Ordinarily a plea of guilty precludes an appeal. One exception to the rule exists however in cases where a question is raised as to the sufficiency of the information. *State v. Armstead*, 13 Wn. App. 59, 62, 533 P.2d 147 (1975); *State v. Saylor*, 70 Wn.2d 7, 9, 422 P.2d 477 (1996). The standard of review for evaluating the sufficiency of a charging document is determined by the timing of the motion challenging the sufficiency. *State v. Borrero*, 147 Wn.2d 353, 360, 58 P.3d 245 (2002).

Where an information is challenged for the first time on appeal, it will be liberally construed in favor of validity. *State v. Nonog*, 145 Wn.

App. 802, 806, 187 P.3d 335 (2008). The two part test in such a situation was adopted from the federal standard in the leading case of *Hagner v. United States*, 285 U.S. 427, 433, 52 S. Ct. 417, 420, 76 L. Ed. 861 (1932), and asks (1) whether the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can be found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) whether the defendant can show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 105-106, 812 P.2d 86 (1991)). The first prong of the test looks to the face of the charging document itself. *Id.* at 106. The second, or "prejudice" prong, may look beyond the face of the charging document to determine if the accused actually received notice of the charges he or she must have been prepared to defend against. *Id.*

- a. The Charging Document was Sufficient to Notify Defendant that he was Alleged to have Knowingly Rendered Criminal Assistance in the First Degree.

For the first time on appeal, defendant alleges that the portion of the second amended information charging him with rendering criminal assistance in the first degree was deficient. The relevant portion of the information read as follows:

That JAYLIN JEROME IRISH, in the State of Washington, on or about the 24th day of March 2012, did unlawfully and feloniously render criminal assistance to Demarcus Pate, a

person who committed or was being sought for First Degree Assault, a Class A felony, by providing such person with money, transportation, disguise, or other means of avoiding discovery or apprehension, contrary to RCW 9A.76.050(3) and 9A.76.070(2)(a), and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 12-13. Defendant alleges the information was deficient because it did not explicitly contain the word "knowingly" in reference to rendering criminal assistance. However, courts have held that it is not necessary to use the exact words of a statute in a charging document. It is sufficient if words conveying the same meaning and import are used. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 109 (citing *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn.2d 679, 689, 782 P.2d 552 (1989); *State v. Jeske*, 87 Wn.2d 760, 765, 558 P.2d 162 (1976); *State v. Moser*, 41 Wn.2d 29, 31, 246 P.2d 1101 (1952)). The question in such a situation is "whether all the words used would reasonably apprise an accused of the elements of the crime charged. Words in a charging document are read as a whole, construed according to common sense and include facts which are necessarily implied." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 109.

In *State v. Nieblas-Duarte*, the court held that the phrase "unlawfully and feloniously" adequately conveyed the "guilty knowledge" element to the defendant in the information. *State v. Krajewski*, 104 Wn. App. 377, 386, 16 P.3d 69 (2001) (citing *State v. Nieblas-Duarte*, 55 Wn. App. 376, 378, 380-382, 777 P.2d 583 (1989)). After surveying federal

and state cases and commentators, the court concluded that the "weight of authority" favors the rule that:

[a]n indictment which charges that a person "unlawfully and feloniously" performed an act is equivalent to alleging that he knowingly did so, and thus supplies the element of knowledge where the element is necessary for averment in the indictment.

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